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EDI TH H JONES, Circuit Judge:”

Jack Montgonery Painter pleaded guilty to one count of
accessory after the fact for concealing from federal authorities
the whereabouts of his fugitive son. See 18 U. S.C. 88 3,
3146(a) (1), (b)(1)(A(i). The district court sentenced Painter to
three years probation and i nposed a $52,200 fine. Painter appeals
the fine, which far exceeds the maxi num $5,000 fine under the

sent enci ng gui deli nes. Because the district court departed on

"Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the Court has determ ned that
this opi nion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5THQR R 47.5. 4.



i nperm ssible grounds from the sentencing guidelines range, we
reverse and remand for resentencing.
| . BACKGROUND

Pai nter’s son, Richard, was indicted for possessingwth
intent to distribute nethanphetam ne and cocaine. Ri chard was
rel eased after Painter secured a $20, 000 bond. When Richard failed
to appear for his rearraignnent, he was indicted for violating
18 U.S.C 88 3146(a)(1), (b)(1)(A)(i). After an approxi mately
ni ne-nonth i nvestigation, the authorities arrested Richard in Costa
Rica and extradited himto the United States. Six nonths |ater,
Pai nter was indicted as an accessory after the fact to R chard’s
failure to appear violation, and he pled guilty.

The presentence report (PSR) indicated a total offense
level of 7 and a crimnal history category of |, yielding a
puni shment range of zero to six nonths inprisonnent with a fine
range of $500 to $5, 000. In addition, the PSR reported that
Pai nter “appears to have a net worth of approximtely $2,837,713.”
The district court ultimately sentenced Painter to three years
probati on and ordered himto pay a fine of $52,200 wi thin one week.

Inwitten findings, the district judge expl ained that he
departed fromthe guideline range because “a special factor exists
in that the defendant has extraordinary assets, naking a fine
wthin the guideline range less than punitive.” The court also

noted that “[t] he defendant caused expenses to the United States



greatly in excess of the guideline finerange . . . [l]ncarceration
was not appropriate for the circunstances of this offense, but
puni shnment was needed.”

In arriving at the final fine anount, the judge stated
that the “fine should be based on the consequences to the United
States” of Painter’s behavior. The court found that the U S
Attorney had spent approximately 58 hours investigating R chard’ s
case (at $150 per hour). He then trebled this anount ($8, 700)
because “punitive danages are often treble damages.” That tota
(%26, 100) was then doubled to arrive at the final fine because,
according to the district judge, the US. Mrshal’s Service had
spent at l|east as nuch tinme on Richard's case as had the U S
Attorney.

1. STANDARD OF REVI EW

The Prosecutorial Renedies and Qther Tools Against the
Expl oitation of Children Today Act of 2003 (PROTECT Act), Pub. L
No. 108-21, 8§ 401, 117 Stat. 650, 670 (Apr. 30, 2003), controls
this court’s standard of review. Before the passage of the PROTECT
Act, codified at 18 U S.C. § 3742, this court reviewed a district
court’s decision to depart from the guidelines for abuse of

discretion. Koon v. United States, 518 U.S. 81, 98 (1996); United

States v. Wlder, 15 F. 3d 1292, 1300 (5th G r. 1994). The PROTECT

Act alters that standard of review, with respect to the departure



decision, to de novo.! See United States v. Bell, No. 03-20194,

2004 W. 1114580, at *3 (5th Cr. My 19, 2004); see also 18 U. S.C
8§ 3742(e)(3)(B) (2000 & Supp. 2003).
I11. DI SCUSSI ON

The court articulated two specific factors tojustify the
departure fromthe guidelines: (1) Painter’s “extraordi nary assets”
and (2) the loss to the governnent. As wll| be seen, these factors
are specifically proscribed fromconsideration in sentencing.

In order to justify a departure, the court nust determ ne
whet her

there exists an aggravating or mtigating

circunstance of a kind or to a degree not

adequately taken into consideration by the

Sentencing Commission in fornmulating the

guidelines that should result in a sentence

different fromthat described. |In determning

whet her a circunstance was adequately taken

into consideration, the court shall consider

only the sentencing guidelines, policy

statenents, and official comentary of the

Sent enci ng Conm ssi on.
18 U.S.C. 8§ 3553(b) (2000). Thus, this court nust exam ne whet her
the factors relied upon by the district court were “adequately
taken into consideration by the Sentencing Comm ssion.” But the
PROTECT Act prohibits departures based on factors not authorized

under § 3553(b). 18 U.S.C. § 3742(3)(B)(ii).

The PROTECT Act has been held in this circuit to apply
retroactively. United States v. Bell, No. 03-20194, 2004 W
1114580, at *3 (5th Cr. My 19, 2004).
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When determ ning the fine anount, the district judge nust
consider “the need for the conbined sentence to reflect the
seriousness of the offense (including the harm or loss to the
victimand gain to the defendant), to pronote respect for the | aw,
to provide just punishnent and to afford adequate deterrence.”
U.S.S.G § 5EL.2(d)(1) (2001);2 see also 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(2)(A).
More specifically, and subject to inportant caveats, the district
court should consider “the defendant’s incone, earning capacity,
and financial resources” and “any pecuniary loss inflicted upon
others as a result of the offense.” 18 U.S.C. 88 3572(a)(1),
(3) (2000). A defendant’s “incone” and financial resources, for
i nstance, should only be consi dered when determning his ability to
pay any fine at all. See 18 U S C 8§ 3572(a)(2); USSG
8§ HBEl1.2(a). Moreover, the guidelines nmandate that a defendant’s

soci oeconom c status is not relevant in determ ning his sentence.

US S G § 5HL 10, p.s.
The PSR listed Painter’s net worth only toillustrate his
ability to pay the statutory fine. The district court, however,

specifically relied on the defendant’s “extraordi nary assets” in

2Pai nter was sentenced in February 2003. However, even
t hough the guidelines require use of the version in effect at the
time of the defendant’s sentence, the probation officer used the
2001 version of the sentencing guidelines when preparing the PSR
See U S.S.G 8 1B1.11 (2001). Neither party has objected to the
court’s use of the 2001 guidelines manual and, therefore, this
court refers to the 2001 version throughout this opinion. No
differences significant to this case exi st between the 2001 and
2002 manual s.



concl udi ng that the guideline fine range was “l ess than punitive.”
We cannot read this conclusion as other than an inperm ssible use

of the defendant’s soci oeconom c status. See United States v.

G aham 946 F.2d 19, 21 (4th Gr. 1991) (holding that *“affluence
al one cannot justify an upward fine departure”). Because the
district court relied on a factor that had al ready been consi dered
and rejected by the Sentencing Conm ssion, this aspect of the
court’s departure decision is erroneous. See 18 U S.C. 8§ 3553(b).

The district court also relied on the loss to the
Governnent to justify its upward departure on the fine. Wi | e
Painter’s offense carries a maxi num statutory fine of $125, 000,
18 U.S.C. 88 3571, 3 (2000), the guidelines prescribe a fine range
of $500 to $5, 000, pursuant to section 5EL.2(c)(3). As has been
noted, the district court calculated the $52,200 fine based
entirely on the estimated |loss to the Governnent. The guidelines
do allow the district court to consider “property damage or | oss
not taken into account within the guidelines” when deci di ng whet her
to depart. US SG § 5K2.5, p.s. “Loss” in the sentencing
guidelines generally refers to “pecuniary loss to a person other
than the defendant.” 18 U.S.C. § 3571(d) (2000) (cited by U S. S. G
8§ 5E1.2 cnt. n.2). Further, the comments to the pertinent guide-
line provision contenplate the possibility of upward departures
where tw ce the anmount of gain to the defendant or the anmount of
| oss caused by the offense exceeds the nmaximum of the fine
guideline. U S S.G 8§ 5E1.2 cnt. n.4.
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The “l oss” to the Governnent is contended to fall within
t hese standards aut hori zing an upward departure, but this position
is untenable. The comments to section 2B1.1 specifically exclude
fromloss the “costs to the governnent of, and costs incurred by

victins primarily to aid the governnent in, the prosecution and

crimnal investigation of an offense.” USSG 8§ 2B1.1 cnt.

n.2(D)(ii) (enphasis added).® The sentencing guidelines contem
pl ated and rejected this factor as a basis for calculating loss; it
may not al so be the basis for an upward departure.

In sum the district court relied on inpermssible
factors when deciding whether to depart from the applicable
gui deline fine range. See 18 U S.C. § 3742(f)(2). W& nust
accordingly reverse the district court’s inposition of the $52, 200
fine and remand for resentencing within the applicable guideline

fine range. See 18 U.S.C. 8§ 3742(Qg); see also United States v.

Martin, 363 F.3d 25, 40 (1st Gr. 2004).

REVERSED and REMANDED

3This court derives its definition of “loss” fromthe
coments to section 2B1.1. These comments offer the nost apt
exposition of “loss” relevant to this determ nation.
Furthernore, the guidelines explicitly reference these conmments
as instructive as to the paraneters of loss. See e.qg., US S G
§ 8A1.2 cnt. n.3(i).



